

**Constitution and By-Laws
of the
Onondaga Kennel Association
as voted on August 25, 2010**

**Article 1
Names and Objectives**

SECTION 1. The name of the Association shall be the Onondaga Kennel Association.

SECTION 2. The objects of the Association shall be:

- (a) to further the advancement of the Association and all purebred dogs by whatever act or means prudent and justifiable.
- (b) to conduct dog shows, obedience trials, rally trials, agility trials and sanctioned matches under the rules of the American Kennel Club.
- (c) to do all in its power to protect and advance the interests of all breeds of purebred dogs and to encourage sportsmanlike competition at dog shows, obedience trials, rally trials and agility trials.

SECTION 3. The club shall not be conducted or operated for profit and no remainder or residue from dues or donations to the club shall inure to the benefit of any member or individual.

SECTION 4. The members of the Association shall adopt and may from time to time revise such by-laws as may be required to carry out these objectives.

**BY-LAWS
Article 1
Membership**

SECTION 1. Eligibility. There shall be two (2) types of memberships:

One open to all persons eighteen (18) years of age and older who are in good standing with the American Kennel Club and who subscribe to the purposes of the Association and with voting rights, Second for Junior OKA, ages 9 but under 18 with no voting rights

While membership is to be unrestricted as to residence, the Association's primary purpose is to be representative of breeders and exhibitors in the immediate area.

SECTION 2. Dues. Membership dues shall not exceed sixty dollars (\$60.00) per year, payable on or before the first day of February. A family membership shall be limited to two adults residing in the same household. Additional adults in the same household must apply as individual members. Membership dues for people joining the Association after August 1 of any year shall be one-half the yearly

dues for the balance of the year to which application for membership is made. No member may vote whose dues are not paid for the current year. During the month of December, the Recording Secretary shall send to each member a statement of his dues for the ensuing year. Prospective members will pay annual dues at time of application. Dues will be refunded if not voted into membership.

SECTION 3. Election to Membership. Each application for membership shall apply on a form approved by the Board of Directors and which shall provide that the applicant agrees to abide by the constitution, by-laws and the rules of the American Kennel Club. The application shall state the name, address, and occupation of the applicant. Accompanying the application, the prospective member shall submit dues payment for the current year in accordance with Article 1, Section 2. The application for membership shall carry the endorsement of a member in good standing.

All applications are to be filed with the Membership Chairperson and each applicant must attend three (3) meetings of the Association following its receipt within twelve (12) months of application. With Board approval at the fourth Association meeting the application will be voted on and an affirmative vote of three fourths (3/4) of the members present and voting at the meeting shall be required to elect the applicant. The applicant shall be absent during voting.

Applicants for membership who have been rejected by the Association shall have application money refunded and may not re-apply within six (6) months after such rejection.

SECTION 4. Termination of Membership. Members may be terminated:

(a) by resignation. Any member in good standing may resign from the Association upon notice to the Recording Secretary, but no member may resign when in debt to the Association. Dues obligations are considered a debt to the Association and they become incurred on the first day of the fiscal year.

(b) by lapsing. A membership will be considered as lapsed and automatically terminated if such member's dues remain unpaid sixty (60) days after the first day of the fiscal year; however, the Board may grant an additional thirty (30) in meritorious cases. In no case may a person be entitled to vote at any Association meeting whose dues are unpaid at the date of that meeting.

(c) by expulsion. A membership may be terminated by expulsion as provided in Article VI of these by-laws.

ARTICLE II Meetings and Voting

SECTION 1. Association Meetings. Meetings of the Association shall be held in the county of Onondaga, State of New York, once a month, generally on the second Wednesday of each month in each year, at such hour and place as designated by the Board of Directors. Written notice of each such meeting shall be made by the Recording Secretary to the membership at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the meeting. The quorum for such meetings shall be 10% of the membership in good standing, plus a majority of the Board.

SECTION 2. Special Meetings. Special Association meetings may be called by the President, or by a majority of the members of the Board, and shall be called by the Recording Secretary upon receipt of a petition signed by five (5) members of the Association who are in good standing. Such special meetings shall be held in the County of Onondaga, State of New York and at such hour and place as may be designated by the person or persons authorized herein to call such meetings.

Written notice of such meetings shall be mailed by the Recording Secretary at least five (5) days and not more than fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the meeting and said notice shall state the purpose of the meeting and no other Association business may be transacted thereat. The quorum for such a meeting shall be 10% of the membership in good standing, plus a majority of the Board.

SECTION 3. Board Meetings. Meetings generally of the Board of Directors shall be held in the County of Onondaga, State of New York generally on the fourth Wednesday of each month in each year, at such hour and place as may be designated by the Board of Directors. Written notice of each such meeting shall be mailed by the Recording Secretary at least five (5) days prior to the date of the meeting. The quorum of such a meeting shall be a majority of the Board. A board meeting may be held via conference call at the discretion of the Board.

SECTION 4. Special Board Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President; and shall be called by the Recording Secretary upon receipt of a written request signed by at least three (3) members of the Board. Such Special meetings shall be held in the County of Onondaga, State of New York, at such hour and place as may be designated by the person authorized herein to call such meetings.

Written notice of such meeting shall be mailed by the Recording Secretary at least five (5) days and not more than ten (10) days prior to the date of the meeting. Any such notice shall state the purpose of the meeting and no other business shall be transacted thereat. A quorum for such a meeting shall be a majority of the Board.

SECTION 5. Voting. Each member in good standing whose dues are paid for the current year shall be entitled to one (1) vote at any meeting of the Association at which they are present excluding Junior members. Proxy voting will not be permitted at any Association meeting or election.

ARTICLE 111
Directors and Officers

SECTION 1. Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall consist of thirteen members, including elected offices of President, Vice-President, Recording Secretary and Treasurer and nine (9) other persons all of whom shall be members in good standing. Three Directors shall be elected for a period of three (3) years each at each Annual Meeting as provided in Article IV and shall serve until their successors are elected Directors shall be limited to two (2) consecutive terms at any one time. General management of the Association's affairs shall be entrusted to the Board of Directors.

SECTION 2. Officers. The offices of President, Vice-President, Treasurer and Recording Secretary shall be elected at the Annual Meeting in the odd years. They shall be members in good standing and shall be elected for a two (2) year term as provided in Article IV and shall serve until their successors are elected. Elected President and Vice President shall be limited to two (2) consecutive terms at any one time.

Appointments shall be made for a period of one (1) year. Appointed officers shall be members in good standing. Officers shall serve in their respective capacities with regard to the Association and its meetings and/or the Board and its meetings.

(a) The President shall preside at all meetings of the Association and of the Board, and shall have the duties and the power normally appurtenant to the office of the President in addition to those particularly specified in these by-laws.

(b) The Vice President shall have the duties and exercise the powers of the President in case of the President's death, absence or incapacity.

(c) The Recording Secretary shall keep a record of all meetings of the Association and the Board of Directors and all matters of which record shall be ordered by the Association. He/she shall have charge of in-club correspondence, notify the members of meetings, notify officers and directors of their election to office, keep a roll of the members of the Association, with their addresses, and carry out such other duties as are prescribed in the Constitution and By-laws or as authorized by the Board of Directors.

(d) The Corresponding Secretary shall be the Secretary of record for correspondence with the A.K.C. and the O.K.A. and any other external correspondence for the O.K.A. The Corresponding Secretary shall keep all records to Sanction Matches, Point Shows, Agility and Obedience Trials sponsored by the O.K.A.

(e) The Treasurer shall collect and receive all monies due or belonging to the Association. He/she shall deposit the same in a bank designated by the Board, in the name of the Association. The books shall at all times be open to inspection by the Board and he/she shall report to the Board at every meeting the condition of the Association's finances and every item of receipt or payment not before reported; and at the annual meeting render an account of all monies received and expended during the previous fiscal year. The Treasurer shall be bonded in such amount as the Board of Directors determine.

(f) The A.K.C. delegate shall represent the Onondaga Kennel Association at A.K.C. quarterly meetings. It shall be the duty of the A.K.C. delegate to disseminate information to the membership. The membership shall be informed of all votable issues and the delegate shall vote according to the wishes of the Association.

SECTION 3. Vacancies. Any vacancies occurring on the Board or among the offices during the year shall be filled until the next annual meeting by a majority vote of all the then members of the board at the first regular meeting following the creation of such a vacancy, or at a Special Board Meeting called for that purpose; except that a vacancy in the office of President shall be filled automatically by the Vice-President and the resulting vacancy in the office of Vice-President shall be filled by the Board.

ARTICLE IV
The Association Year, Annual Meeting, Elections

SECTION 1. Association Year. The Association fiscal year shall begin on the 1st day of February and end on the 31st of January. The Association's official year shall begin immediately at the conclusion of the election at the annual meeting and shall continue through the election of the next annual meeting.

SECTION 2. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting shall be held in the month of April at which Officers, in accordance with Article III, Section 2. and directors, in accordance with Article III, Section 1, shall be elected by secret, written ballot from those nominated in accordance with Section 4 of this Article. They shall take office immediately upon the conclusion of the election and each retiring officer shall turn over to his successor in office all properties and records relating to that office within thirty (30) days after the election.

SECTION 3. Elections. The nominated candidate receiving the greatest number of votes for each office shall be declared elected. The three nominated candidates for other positions on the Board who receive the greatest number of votes for each position shall be declared elected.

SECTION 4. Nominations. No person may be a candidate in an Association election who has not been nominated. Nominations shall be conducted as follows:

(a) During the month of December the Board shall select a nominating committee consisting of three (3) members and one (1) alternate, not more than one of whom may be a member of the Board.

(b) The Board shall name a chairperson for the committee and it shall be his/her duty to call a committee meeting which shall be held on or before February 1.

(c) The committee shall immediately report their nominations to the Recording Secretary in writing.

(d) The Recording Secretary shall notify each member in writing of the candidates so nominated, two (2) weeks prior to the March meeting to give members ample time to consider other candidates.

(e) Additional nominations may be made from the floor at the March meeting.

(f) Nomination cannot be made at the Annual Meeting or in any manner other than as provided in this section.

ARTICLE V Committees

SECTION 1. The Board may each year appoint standing committees to advance the work of the Association in such matters as dog shows, obedience trials, trophies, annual prizes, membership and other fields which may be served by committees. Such Committees shall always be subject to the final authority of the Board. Special committees may also be appointed by the Board to aid it in particular projects.

SECTION 2. Any Committee appointment may be terminated by a majority vote of the full membership of the Board upon written notice to the appointee; and the Board may appoint successors to those person(s) whose services have been terminated.

ARTICLE VI Discipline

SECTION 1. American Kennel Club Suspension. Any member who is suspended from the privileges of the American Kennel Club automatically shall be suspended from the Privileges of this Association for a like period.

SECTION 2. Charges. Any member may prefer charges against a member for alleged misconduct prejudicial to the best interests of the Association. Written charges with specifications must be filed in duplicate with the Recording Secretary together with a deposit of no more than Fifty dollars (\$50.00) which shall be forfeited if such charges are not sustained by the Board following a hearing. The Recording Secretary shall promptly send a copy of the charges to each member of the Board present or present them at a Board meeting, and the Board shall first consider whether the actions alleged in the charges, if proven, might constitute conduct prejudicial to the best interests of the Association. If the Board considers that the charges do not allege conduct which would be prejudicial to the best interests of the Association it may refuse to entertain jurisdiction. If the Board entertains jurisdiction of the charges it shall fix a date of a hearing by the Board not less than three (3) weeks and not more than six (6) weeks thereafter. The Recording Secretary shall promptly send one copy of the charges to the accused member by registered mail together with a notice of the hearing and assurance that defendant may personally appear in his own defense and bring witnesses if he wishes.

SECTION 3. Board Hearing. The Board shall have complete authority to decide whether counsel may attend the hearing, but both complainant and defendant shall be treated uniformly in that regard. Should the charges be sustained, after hearing all the evidence and testimony presented by the complainant and defendant, the Board may by a majority vote of those present suspend the defendant from all privileges of the Association for not more than six (6) months from the date of the hearing, and if it deems that punishment insufficient it may also recommend to the membership that the penalty

be expulsion. In such case, suspension shall not restrict the defendant's right to appear before his fellow members at the ensuing Association meeting which considers the Board's recommendation. Immediately after the Board has reached a decision, its finding shall be put in written form and filed with the Recording Secretary. The Recording Secretary, in turn, shall notify each of the parties of the Board's decision and penalty, if any.

SECTION 4. Expulsion. Expulsion of a member from the Association may be accomplished only at a meeting of the Association following a Board hearing and upon the Board's recommendation as provided in Section 3 of this Article. Such a proceeding may occur at a regular or special meeting of the Association to be held within sixty (60) days but not earlier than thirty (30) days after the date of the Board's recommendation of expulsion. The defendant shall have the privilege of appearing in his own behalf, though no evidence shall be taken at this meeting. The President shall read the charges and the Board's findings and recommendations, and shall invite the defendant, if present, to speak in his own behalf if he wishes. The members shall then vote by a secret ballot on the proposed expulsion.

A 2/3 vote of those present and voting at the meeting shall be necessary for expulsion. If expulsion is not voted, the Board's suspension shall stand.

ARTICLE VII Amendments

SECTION 1. Amendments to the constitution and by-laws may be proposed by the Board of directors or by written petition addressed to the Recording Secretary signed by twenty (20) percent of the membership in good standing. Amendments proposed by such petition shall be promptly considered by the Board of Directors and must be submitted to the members with recommendations of the Board by the Recording Secretary for a vote within three (3) months of the date when the petition was received by the Recording Secretary.

SECTION 2. The constitution and by-laws may be amended by a 2/3 vote of the members present and voting at any regular or special meeting called for the purpose, provided the proposed amendments have been included in the notice of the meeting and mailed to each member at least two weeks prior to the meeting.

SECTION 3. No amendment to the constitution and by-laws that is adopted by the Association shall become effective until it has been approved by the Board of Directors of the American Kennel Club.

ARTICLE VIII Dissolution

SECTION 1. Dissolution. The Association may be dissolved at any time by the written consent of not less than 2/3 of the members. In the event of the dissolution of the Association other than for purposes of reorganization whether voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law, none of the property of the Association nor any proceeds thereof nor any assets of the Association shall be distributed to any members of the Association but after payment of the debts of the Association its property and assets shall be given to a charitable organization for the benefit of dogs selected by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IX
Order of Business

SECTION 1. At meetings of the Association, the order of business, so far as the character and nature of the meeting may permit, shall be as follows:

- Roll Call
- Minutes of last meeting
- Report of the President
- Report of Recording Secretary
- Report of Corresponding Secretary
- Report of Treasurer
- Reports of Committees
- Election of Officers and Board (at annual meeting)
- Election of new members
- Unfinished business
- New business
- Adjournment

SECTION 2. At meetings of the Board, the order of business, unless otherwise directed by majority vote of those present, shall be as follows:

- Reading of the Minutes of the last meeting
- Report of Recording Secretary
- Report of Treasurer
- Reports of Committees
- Unfinished business
- New Business
- Adjournment

ARTICLE X
Parliamentary Authority

SECTION 1. The rules contained in the current addition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern the Association in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not consistent with these by-laws or any special rules of order the club may adopt.

**CODE
OF
ETHICS**

CODE OF ETHICS

1. CANON OF ETHICS

- A. Each member of the Onondaga Kennel Association 622 Inc., has an obligation to protect the interests of his/her breed by conducting him/herself in a manner designed to reflect credit on him/herself and the Onondaga Kennel Association 622 Inc.
- B. Each member who contemplates breeding a litter, or who allows the use of his/her stud dog to the same end and, shall direct his/her efforts towards producing dogs of exceptional quality, temperament and condition.
- C. No member shall engage in false or misleading advertising or misrepresentation of his/her breed; nor shall he/she malign his/her competition by making false or misleading statements regarding his/her competitors dogs, breeding practice or person.
- D. It is considered to be unethical for any O.K.A. member to sell dogs to any pet shop, or any wholesale dealer in dogs, or to knowingly sell to any breeder who sells to pet shops or in any way aid or abet the sale of any dog through a pet shop or lottery/raffle.
- E. Each member of O.K.A. is encouraged to consciously guard against dog overpopulation by accompanying the sale of any dog sold for the purpose of "pet only" with a sales contract that includes spay/neuter provision of A.K.C. non-breeding registration.

II. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BREEDER:

The breeder shall:

- A. Be familiar with his breed standard and breed only those specimens which conform to it.
- B. Be familiar with A.K.C. rules concerning record keeping and sale and transfer of dogs, and abide by these rules.
- C. Use for breeding only dogs which are healthy and free from serious congenital defects characteristic of the breed(s).
- D. Produce puppies only when he has the time and facilities to provide adequate attention to physical and emotional development until such time as they are sold.
- E. Not breed a bitch more often than two out of three heat seasons, unless the seasons occur every nine months or more; then only if she is in robust health, and never at the time of her first season, unless the season occurs after twelve (12) months of age.
- F. Refrain from further use of a bitch or stud that has produced any serious inherited defects detrimental to the animal's well-being, such as blindness, deafness, lameness or impairment of any vital function, and produces like results with a different mating partner.

III. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE SELLER;

The seller shall:

- A. Keep accurate records showing dates of immunizations, types of vaccines used, dates of worming, etc.; registration and pedigree records and furnish these records with the sale of each puppy.
- B. Be willing to cover all sales by a written contract, listing registration numbers of both sire and dam and litter registration number of dog if available; conditions of sale, description of quality of dog, health certificate, and full description of the dog including a three (3) generation pedigree.
- C. Request that a newly purchased dog be examined by the buyer's veterinarian (at the buyer's expense) within forty-eight (48) hours of sale. If the dog is to be returned to the seller, a written health record, with reasons for return, must be furnished by the examining veterinarian within the forty-eight (48) hour period.
- D. A dog showing serious deviation from the standard, rendering it unsuitable for breeding can be sold only if spayed/neutered. Registration papers will be withheld until proof of surgery is furnished. Sales contract will state reasons for withholding papers.
- E. Will provide registration papers with each dog sold unless the reasons for not providing such papers are clearly stated in each sales contract.
- F. Apprise the buyer of growth potential and breed peculiarities.

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE STUD OWNER:

The Stud Owner shall:

- A. Not offer at stud a dog showing a serious inherited defect which is characteristic in the breed, structure or temperament Likewise, owners of stud dogs shall not accept for breeding any bitch, the reproduction of which is likely to be detrimental to the breed.
- B. Shall not breed a bitch less than one year of age and not before a bitch's second season (See II E.)
- C. Shall refrain from breeding a bitch owned by a party known to have dealings with pet shops, wholesale dealers or lotteries/raffles.
- D. Shall make every effort to apprise the owner of the bitch of the responsibilities involved in the raising, proper care and placement of puppies resulting from the breeding.

V. ENFORCEMENT

See article IV, section 2, 3, 4 of the Constitution.

STANDING COMMITTEES

ASSOCIATED DOG CLUBS OF NEW YORK & AMERICAN DOG OWNERS ASSOCIATION

The Chair shall represent the O.K.A. at as many A.D.C.N.Y.S and A.D.O.A. meetings as possible. The Chair shall report all matters relevant to the Board and members of the Association, and shall involve O.K.A. membership in major discussions whenever possible so that O.K.A. majority wishes can be represented at A.D.C.N.Y.S meetings.

AMERICAN KENNEL CLUB DELEGATE

The Chair shall represent the Onondaga Kennel Association at A.K.C. quarterly meetings. It shall be the duty of the A.K.C. delegate to disseminate information to the membership. The membership shall be informed of all votable issues and the delegate shall vote according to the wishes of the Association.

AWARDS AND HISTORIAN

The Chair shall be the keeper of all publicity and all awards, and shall annually coordinate the presentation of certificates and awards for American and Canadian Kennel Clubs championship and performance titles accrued by an O.K.A. member within a one (1) year period.

EDUCATION AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

The Chair shall be responsible for providing opportunities for public education of the purebred dog fancy. Such programs should be available, upon request, to any public or private group or institution. In demonstrations, the process should involve both conformation and performance when possible.

ENTERTAINMENT

The Chair will, upon Board approval, organize social gatherings for the O.K.A. membership which may include a Christmas Party, Spring Social or Summer Picnic. Chair shall obtain suitable location and shall provide members with adequate advance notice of location, fee and time limits for reservations. He/she shall collect fees and transmit them to O.K.A. treasurer.

ETHICS

The Chair shall form a committee, subject to Board approval, that will uphold the Code of Ethics of the Association. This committee will annually select one-third (1/3) of the membership for kennel inspections and will conduct kennel inspections on all prospective members, reporting all findings to the Board. Any complaints, filed in accordance with the Constitution and By-Laws shall be investigated by this committee with all reports and findings reviewed by the Board.

HANDLING

The Chair shall be responsible for selecting a location accessible and suitable for the Association members to work their dogs. Chair shall establish dates for sessions, organize classes, collect fees and transmit them to O.K.A. treasurer.

JUDGES' S INPUT COMMITTEE

Chair will select one (1) person to serve as coordinator from each of the seven (7) breed groups and the obedience interest group. Each group coordinator will canvass all members having breeds within his group and compile a list of the names of judges, ranking them in the order of preference. Chair will collect completed lists from each coordinator and provide copies to Show Chairman, Corresponding Secretary, and maintain a copy for his/her records. The show chairman will make every effort to utilize names from these lists with the understanding that for any particular show such factors as availability, cost and judge sharing during a cluster show, may necessitate the selection of judges not listed.

JUNIOR O.K.A.

The Chair shall lead a youth group dedicated to the purebred dog fancy. The chair will locate a meeting place that will accommodate the needs of the group, schedule meeting times, and monitor activities of the group.

MATCH SHOW

The Chair shall be responsible for the organization of the annual O.K.A. Match Show, subject to Board approval. The chair's responsibility shall include dates, location, hiring judges, trophies, ribbons and all things pertinent to a Match Show.

MEMBERSHIP

The Chair shall be responsible for keeping all records on prospective new members including number of meetings attended and sponsors. Upon fulfillment of all membership requirements, the chair shall prepare ballots for all eligible members. Each applicant shall be informed by the chair that they will not be placed on the telephone referral list for one (1) full year after acceptance.

NEWSLETTER

The Chair shall publish, monthly a notice of all general membership and Board meetings. This notice could include information on the programs, parties, brags, dog events, educational matter, etc. All dues paying and life-time members shall receive a copy of the newsletter.

POINT SHOW CHAIRMAN

Each year the Board shall appoint a Point Show Chairman and assistant for each show to be held. The Show Chair will be in direct charge and responsible for all phases of the Association's sanctioned dog show, obedience trial and associated events.

PROGRAM

The Chair shall arrange frequent programs for O.K.A. general meetings. These programs should be educational and pertinent to the purebred dog fancy.

SUNSHINE

The Chair shall send cards, flowers, etc. to any O.K.A. member or member's immediate family in the event of illness or death. In accordance with established Board guidelines.

TELEPHONE BREED INFORMATION

The Chair establishes a phone line accessible to the public for information regarding purebred dogs. The operator will annually receive an updated referral list noting all eligible members for this service. At no time may an individual, not a current member be referred, and no business may be referred. All members with the same breed must be referred with each inquiry.

LEGISLATIVE LIAISON

The Chair member who follow legislative issues and provide an important communications link between the OKA and the AKC Canine legislative department.